RECEIVED

Apr 25 2023

SC Court of Appeals

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Kristi F. Curtis, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2022-001175

Hunsten B. Ragin as Personal Representative for the Estate of Samel
Ragin.....Appellant,

v.

Pilgrim's Pride Corporation, Mary McBride, and Susan Jones.....Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Neil E. Alger
John E. Parker, Jr.
PARKER LAW GROUP, LLP
101 Mulberry Street East
Hampton, SC 29924
Phone: (803) 943-2111

-AND-

Dwight C. Moore
Moore Law Firm, LLC
PO Box 1229
Sumter, SC 29151-1229

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the Circuit Court erred in finding that the dual persona doctrine would not apply to the facts and circumstances of this case.
- II. Whether the Circuit Court's July 28, 2022 Order ("the Reconsideration Order"), without the benefit of a factual record, erroneously applied the Rule 56, SCRCF standard and reversed the Circuit Court's April 7, 2022 Order ("the Summary Judgment Order") which found that there was a genuine dispute of material fact as to whether Samel Ragin's injury was accidental and arose out of employment.
- III. Whether the Reconsideration Order fails to consider the issue of whether Appellant's action is barred by the exclusivity provision and instead, erroneously ruled it was ultimately a question for the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission and not the Circuit Court.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This Appeal arises from a heart attack suffered by the Decedent, Samel Ragin, which occurred while she was at her place of employment, a chicken processing facility owned by Respondent Pilgrim's Pride Corporation in Sumter, South Carolina.¹ (R. pp. 23-26). Appellant Hunsten B. Ragin, as Personal Representative for the Estate of Samel Ragin, has brought an action for numerous allegedly negligent acts and omissions against Pilgrim's as well as Respondents Mary McBride and Susan Jones, two nurses working at Pilgrim's in-house nursing clinic. (*Id.*). These were not ordinary negligible acts or omissions akin to issues with the premises or the care undertaken by employees as one would expect to arise in the workplace. Rather, Appellant believed that these specific negligent acts and omissions were violations of the nursing standard of care, and because of these violations, Appellant complied with the Notice of Intent requirements in S.C. Code § 15-79-125. Appellant contended that Respondents breached their professional nursing standard of care by not providing basic nursing care to Ms. Ragin, despite her presentation to their clinic with symptoms of a life-threatening condition. (R. p. 20).

After completing the Notice of Intent requirements, Appellant proceeded with the Complaint which specifically alleges that Ms. Ragin had complained of chest pain at Pilgrim's nursing clinic prior to losing consciousness and passing away, and that Pilgrim's nursing clinic failed to meet the nursing standard of care in treating

¹ Respondents have conceded on the record that Ms. Ragin died of a heart attack. (R. p. 90, lines 9-13).

Ms. Ragin. (R. p. 24, ¶¶ 6-10). After receiving a letter from a third-party administrator informing Appellant that the Estate's claim for workers' compensation benefits was not compensable, Appellant filed a Complaint against Respondents on February 23, 2021, in the Sumter County Court of Common Pleas. (R. pp. 23-26; R. p. 61).

On April 7, 2021, Respondents filed an Answer, specifically denying that Ms. Ragin visited the nursing clinic or reported her chest pains, and specifically denying that Ms. Ragin continued to work with chest pains. (R. p. 27, ¶ 4). On September 17, 2021, Respondents filed a Motion for Summary Judgment. In their Motion, Respondents argued that the exclusivity provision of the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-540, barred Appellant from suing Respondents because Appellant had not produced any evidence that the subject incident involved intentional acts on behalf of Respondents. (R. pp. 37-38; R. pp. 45-47). Counsel for Appellant submitted briefing containing arguments that the heart attack was not a compensable injury as defined by the Act and therefore would not be barred by the Act's exclusivity provision. (R. pp. 57-58). Appellant's brief also argued that Ms. Ragin's heart attack was idiopathic in nature and unrelated to her employment. (R. pp. 58-59).

The Circuit Court heard the Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment on January 31, 2022. (R. pp. 76-110). At the hearing, counsel for Respondents argued that without going beyond the allegations of the Complaint, the exclusivity provision would bar Appellant's action because Ms. Ragin was an employee at the

time of the accident, her injury occurred while she was working, and Appellant had not alleged any sort of intentional conduct on behalf of Respondents. (R. p. 86, line 23-p. 87, line 20). Counsel for Respondents also argued that whatever occurred at the nursing clinic was irrelevant to the analysis of whether the exclusivity provision applied to Appellant's lawsuit. (R. 87, line 21-p. 88, line 5). Additionally, Respondents argued that McBride and Jones as co-employees were immune to suit under the Act, and that Appellant's tort action would be barred even if Ms. Ragin's injury was not compensable. (R. p. 88, lines 6-17; R. p. 89, line 22-p. 91, line 11).

Counsel for Appellant in turn argued that Ms. Ragin's heart attack did not arise from her employment, and that the heart attack was not accidental but an idiopathic injury and was therefore not compensable or barred by the exclusivity provision. (R. 102, lines 12-20, R. p. 104, line 25-p. 106, line 9). Counsel also argued that any acts and omissions of the nursing clinic would be properly addressed in a civil action, and not under the Act, because the nursing clinic had its own obligations and identity distinct from the scope of Ms. Ragin's relationship with Pilgrim's as her employer. (R. p. 103, line 2- p. 104, line 6, R. p. 106, lines 9-17). In reply, Respondents argued that despite the idiopathic nature of Ms. Ragin's heart attack, it could still be compensable if Ms. Ragin had overexerted herself in performing her work duties, but counsel did not actually produce any evidence demonstrating this circumstance. (R. p. 108, lines 2-13).

In an Order filed April 7, 2022, the Circuit Court found that Ms. Ragin's injury did not arise from her employment. (R. p. 7). The Circuit Court implied that

there was no evidence of any causal connection between the conditions under which Ms. Ragin was required to perform her work and her heart attack, and that Ms. Ragin's heart attack was an idiopathic injury unrelated to her employment. (*Id.*). On April 15, 2022, Respondents filed a Motion to Reconsider the Circuit Court's Summary Judgment Order. (R. pp. 62-67).

The Motion rehashed Respondent's argument that the Act would bar Appellant's negligence action because Ms. Ragin was working at the time of her injury, and because Respondents were Ms. Ragin's employer and co-employees. (R. p. 63). Respondents also argued that the injury was causally connected to Ms. Ragin's employment because she would not have been exposed to the risk of negligent medical treatment but for her employment at Pilgrim's. (*Id.*). Lastly, Respondents argued that there was no intentional behavior exempting Appellant's claim from the Act, and that the question of whether the heart attack related to Ms. Ragin's employment should be resolved by the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission. (R. pp. 63-64). Appellant filed a Memorandum in Opposition to the Motion on April 26, 2022, arguing that the Motion failed to raise any new arguments or evidence.

On May 17, 2022, the Circuit Court heard Respondents' Motion to Reconsider. (R. pp. 111-126). Respondents once again argued that since Respondents were Ms. Ragin's employer and co-employees, and she was working at the time of her heart attack, that her injury arose from her employment. (R. p. 116, lines 11-19). Respondent also argued without citing authority that the Workers'

Compensation Commission had jurisdiction over the question of whether the injury arose in the course and scope of Ms. Ragin's employment. (R. p. 117, lines 9-12). Respondents did not argue that there were work conditions present under the circumstances such that Ms. Ragin's idiopathic heart attack would be compensable under the Act.

On July 28, 2022, the Circuit Court filed an Order reversing the Summary Judgment Order. (R. pp. 9-14). The Reconsideration Order only provided four grounds for granting summary judgment: (1) the dual capacity doctrine does not provide an exception to the exclusivity provision for injuries caused by company-employed health care providers, (2) Ms. Ragin was at work at the time she suffered her heart attack, (3) Respondents were Ms. Ragin's employer and co-employees, and (4) the question of whether Ms. Ragin's heart attack was an employment injury was a question for the Workers' Compensation Commission. This Appeal followed on August 19, 2022. (R. pp. 71-75).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

While South Carolina authorities do not address the standard of review when determining whether a claim is subject to the exclusivity provision, multiple other states have. The general consensus is that the issue is a question of law which should be reviewed *de novo* after a circuit court grants summary judgment. *See Peterson v. Arlington Hospitality Staffing, Inc.*, 276 Wis. 2d 746, 750, 689 N.W.2d 61, 63 (Wis. Ct. App. 2004); *Buck v. Freeman*, 619 N.W.2d 793 (Minn. Ct. App. 2000); *Boulware v. Quiktrip Corp.*, 226 Ga. App. 399, 486 S.E.2d 662 (Ga. Ct. App.

1997). “When reviewing the grant of a summary judgment motion, the appellate court applies the same standard that governs the trial court under Rule 56(c), SCRCF, which provides that summary judgment is proper when there is no genuine issue as to any material fact” *Stokes-Craven Holding Corp. v. Robinson*, 416 S.C. 517, 524, 787 S.E.2d 485, 489 (2016). “Summary judgment should not be granted even when there is no dispute as to evidentiary facts if there is dispute as to the conclusion to be drawn from those facts.” *Brockbank v. Best Capital Corp.*, 341 S.C. 372, 379, 534 S.E.2d 688, 692 (2000). Summary judgment is a drastic remedy that should be cautiously granted. *BPS, Inc. v. Worthy*, 362 S.C. 319, 326, 608 S.E.2d 155, 159 (Ct. App. 2005).

“In determining whether any triable issue of fact exists, the evidence and all inferences which can reasonably be drawn therefrom must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party.” *Pye v. Estate of Fox*, 369 S.C. 555, 563, 633 S.E.2d 505, 509 (2006). Once the moving party carries its initial burden, the non-moving party must come forward with specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial. *Baughman v. American Tel. and Tel. Co.*, 306 S.C. 101, 115, 410 S.E.2d 537, 545 (1991). The Supreme Court of the United States, in explaining the moving party’s initial burden on a motion for summary judgment, has described it as follows:

Of course, a party seeking summary judgment always bears the initial responsibility of informing the district court of the basis for its motion, and identifying those portions of “the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any,” which it believes demonstrate the absence of a genuine issue of material fact.

Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 323, 106 S. Ct. 2548, 2553, 91 L.Ed.2d 265 (1986).² “In order to withstand a motion for summary judgment ‘in cases applying the preponderance of the evidence burden of proof, the non-moving party is only required to submit a mere scintilla of evidence.’” *Fountain v. First Reliance Bank*, 398 S.C. 434, 441, 730 S.E.2d 305, 308 (2012)) (quoting *Hancock v. Mid-South Mgmt. Co., Inc.*, 381 S.C. 326, 330, 673 S.E.2d 801, 803 (2009).

ARGUMENT

The Reconsideration Order grants summary judgment to Respondents based on its conclusion that the exclusivity provision of the Workers’ Compensation Act would bar Appellant’s action. The exclusivity provision states that

The rights and remedies granted by this title to an employee when he and his employer have accepted the provisions of this title, respectively, to pay and accept compensation on account of personal injury or death by accident, shall exclude all other rights and remedies of such employee . . . as against his employer, at common law or otherwise, on account of such injury, loss of service or death.

S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-540. This provision makes the Act the exclusive means of settling all claims for “personal injury” as defined under the Act, unless some exception to the exclusivity provision would apply. *Edens v. Bellini*, 359 S.C. 433, 445, 597 S.E.2d 863, 869-70 (Ct. App. 2004); *Doe v. S.C. State Hosp.*, 285 S.C. 183, 186, 328 S.E.2d 652, 654 (Ct. App. 1985).

² The Court may rely on federal precedent in interpreting any state Rules which are substantially similar to the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. See *Unisun Ins. v. Hawkins*, 342 S.C. 537, 542, 537 S.E.2d 559, 561-62 (Ct. App. 2000). The Supreme Court of South Carolina has relied on *Celotex’s* articulation of the moving party’s burden on a motion for summary judgment. See *Baughman v. Am. Tel. and Tel. Co.*, 306 S.C. 101, 115, 410 S.E.2d 537, 545 (1991).

The Reconsideration Order finds that the exclusivity provision would apply because (1) the “dual capacity exception” is antithetical to the workers’ compensation scheme and should not apply to company-employed health care providers, and (2) Appellant’s alleged misdiagnosis and subsequent heart attack arose from a compensable, accidental employment injury as defined under the Act. Both findings are in error and independently establish sufficient grounds for the Court to reverse the Order. Additionally, to the extent that the Reconsideration Order states that the issue of whether the Decedent’s injury arose out of her employment is solely a question for the Workers’ Compensation Commission, this finding is also in error as far as the question relates to the applicability of the exclusivity provision to this action. For these and the following reasons, the Appellant respectfully requests that the Court either reverse the Circuit Court’s Reconsideration Order or vacate it for further findings of fact.

I. Statement of facts.

On November 24, 2017, Samel Ragin arrived at her shift at Respondent Pilgrim’s Pride’s chicken processing facility. (R. pp. 39-40, R. pp. 52-53). Ms. Ragin was employed by Pilgrim as a pallet mover who would transport pallets and bins of product throughout Pilgrim’s facility. (R. p. 103, lines 9-14). Around 10:30 a.m., Ms. Ragin reported to Pilgrim’s nursing clinic complaining of chest pains, shortness of breath, and dizziness. (R. p. 24, ¶ 6). The nursing staff did not provide any care or treatment to Ms. Ragin, and she returned to work where she continued to experience her symptoms. (R. p. 24, ¶¶ 7-8). Sometime later in her shift, Ms. Ragin

was found unconscious in a restroom at Pilgrim’s facility and subsequently died from a heart attack.³ (R. p. 24, ¶ 9). The autopsy report reflects that she died from underlying natural causes: cardiac arrhythmia and cardiomyopathy. (R. pp. 39-40; R. pp. 51-52).

Appellant contends, and has submitted the affidavit of Audrey Holmes, demonstrating that Respondents breached their professional nursing standard of care by not providing basic nursing care to Ms. Ragin, despite her presentation to their clinic with symptoms of a life-threatening condition. (R. p. 20). This affidavit also establishes the pertinent fact that Defendants were acting as professionals bound by a nursing standard of care as opposed to ordinary workplace negligence. (*Id.*)

II. The Circuit Court erred in determining that South Carolina law does not embrace the dual persona doctrine and in failing to find that it would act as an exception to the exclusivity provision.

The Reconsideration Order states that:

While the Court recognizes that other jurisdictions have adopted a “dual capacity exception” to the immunity provided by worker’s compensation when it comes to company-employed physicians, the vast majority of states have refused to recognize such an exception, finding that doing so would be antithetical to the overall purpose of worker’s compensation. The majority of states further recognize that it is a function of the legislature to create any such exceptions; had they intended for a dual capacity exception to apply to company physicians, they would have done so. I find the rationale of the majority to be compelling in this matter as well.

³ Respondents appear to concede in support of their Motion to Reconsider that Ms. Ragin was seen by McBride and Jones at Pilgrim’s nursing clinic; however, Respondents denied this fact in their Answer and appeared to contest it in the January 31, 2022 hearing. (*Compare* R. p. 63, *with* R. p. 27, ¶ 4; R. p. 100, line 12-p. 101, line 12).

(R. pp. 10-11). The Order is in error (1) because it fails to recognize that South Carolina has already created this exception to the exclusivity provision (referred to as the “dual persona doctrine” by South Carolina authorities), and (2) the Order fails to correctly apply the factual circumstances underlying this action to determine if such an exception provided by the doctrine would apply. Therefore, the Court should either reverse the Order or vacate it for further factual determinations as to the applicability of the dual persona doctrine.

A. South Carolina has adopted the dual persona doctrine as an exception to the exclusivity provision.

The “dual capacity doctrine” referred to by the Circuit Court allows an employee to pursue a tort action against her employer if the employer “occupies, in addition to his capacity as employer, a second capacity that confers on him obligations independent of those imposed on him as an employer.” *Parker v. Williams & Madjanik*, 275 S.C. 65, 75, 267 S.E.2d 524, 529 (1980). As noted by the Circuit Court, some jurisdictions have applied the dual capacity doctrine in situations like Ms. Ragin’s where an employee suffers an aggravated injury caused by an employer-health provider’s negligence. *See Tatum v. Med. Univ. of S.C.*, 335 S.C. 499, 507-08, 517 S.E.2d 706, 710-11 (Ct. App. 1999) (*Tatum I*) (collecting cases). While South Carolina has adopted a dual capacity doctrine in some contexts, it has not been used to address scenarios involving co-employee health care providers. *Willis v. Aiken Cnty.*, 203 S.C. 96, 104-05, 26 S.E.2d 313, 316 (1943).

Because many jurisdictions in applying the doctrine ignored its requirement of a second distinct capacity assumed by the employer, commentators, particularly

Arthur Larson, advocated for changing the name of the doctrine from the “dual capacity doctrine” to the “dual persona” doctrine to emphasize the requirement of a second distinct capacity or persona assumed by the employer in connection to the employee’s injury. *Tatum I*, 335 S.C. at 508, 517 S.E.2d at 711. In *Mendenall v. Anderson Hardwood Floors, LLC*, 401 S.C. 558, 738 S.E.2d 251 (2013), South Carolina adopted the dual persona doctrine as an exception to the exclusivity provision of the Act. The dual persona doctrine is “applicable only where the second set of obligations that forms the basis of the tort suit is entirely independent of the defendant’s obligations as an employer.” *Id.* at 563-64, 738 S.E.2d at 254.

If the dual persona doctrine is to apply, it must be possible to say that the duty arose *solely* from the *nonemployer* persona For only in such a case can the second persona be really distinct from the employer persona. In other words, it is not enough . . . that the second persona impose *additional* duties. They must be totally separate from and unrelated to those of the employment.

Id. at 564, 738 S.E.2d at 254. In other words, “whether the dual persona doctrine applies in a particular case turns on whether the duty claimed to have been breached is distinct from those duties owed by virtue of the employer’s persona as such.” *Id.* at 565, 738 S.E.2d at 254. Thus, if the duty owed by Pilgrim’s in failing to provide adequate medical care is distinct from those duties that were owed to Ms. Ragin by Pilgrim’s by virtue of its persona as employer, then the dual persona doctrine applies, and Appellant’s action is not barred by the exclusivity provision.

B. The dual persona doctrine applies to the factual circumstances of this case because as an employer, Pilgrim’s had no legal obligation to provide medical treatment or referrals for an idiopathic injury, and Pilgrim’s nursing staff had a duty of care in treating a non-

employment injury separate and distinct from Pilgrim's obligations as an employer.

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