RECEIVED

Jun 05 2023

SC Court of Appeals

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SUMTER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Kristi F. Curtis, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2022-001175

Hunsten B. Ragin as Personal Representative of the Estate of Samel
Ragin.....Appellant,

v.

Pilgrim’s Pride Corporation, Mary McBride, and Susan Jones.....Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Thomas B. Pritchard (S.C. Bar No. 65006)
Vernis & Bowling of Columbia, LLC
494-A Savannah Hwy.
Charleston, SC 29407
Telephone: (843) 242-7805
Email: tpritchard@scarolina-law.com

Attorney for Respondents

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. The Circuit Court correctly determined that the dual persona doctrine did not apply to the instant case.
- II. The Circuit Court properly reconsidered its prior denial of summary judgment and determined that the matter should be dismissed in accordance with the lack of jurisdiction.
- III. The Circuit Court correctly determined that the question was one of jurisdiction as to the exclusivity provision of the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Act and concluded that exclusive jurisdiction lay before the Workers' Compensation Commission.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This Appeal arises from the Sumter County Circuit Court's grant of Respondents' Motion to Reconsider the Court's previous denial of Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment, the Motion to Reconsider having been granted by the Court by Order dated July 28, 2022. (Record on Appeal at 9-14).

The underlying case arose out of the unfortunate and untimely death of Decedent, Samel Ragin, who suffered a fatal heart attack while she was at work at her place of employment, a chicken processing facility owned and operated by Respondent Pilgrim's Pride in Sumter County, South Carolina, on November 24, 2017. Appellant Hunsten B. Ragin,¹ as Personal Representative of the Estate of Samel Ragin, brought an action against Pilgrim's and two of its in-house nurse employees, Respondents Mary McBride and Susan Jones, asserting numerous negligent acts and omissions against each. (Record on Appeal at 22-26). Appellant asserted that the specific negligent acts and omissions alleged against Pilgrim's and its employees were violations of the nursing standard of care, which violations caused or directly contributed to Decedent's death by heart attack. Due to the allegations asserted by Appellant, a Notice of Intent was filed on November 6, 2020 (Record on Appeal at 15-19). Upon completion of the statutory requirements of the medical malpractice enabling statute, S.C. Code Ann. §15-79-125 (1976, as amended), on February 23, 2021, Appellant filed the Complaint, which alleges that

¹ Hunsten B. Ragin is the mother of Decedent. She was appointed Personal Representative of the Estate of Decedent on April 3, 2018. She died on September 27, 2020, approximately two months prior to the filing of the Notice of Intent in this action and approximately five months prior to the filing of this action. The Successor Personal Representative, Syreea Baxter, was appointed on October 19, 2021, but the caption has not been amended at any point in the proceedings to reflect

Decedent had complained of chest pain and was seen in the Pilgrim's nursing clinic before being instructed to return to work where she subsequently lost consciousness in the restroom and ultimately passed away.² As stated above, the Complaint asserts that the purported care and treatment, or lack thereof, provided to Decedent failed to meet the nursing standard of care. (Record on Appeal at 22-26).

Prior to filing the Notice of Intent or the Complaint, Appellant had made a claim with Respondent Pilgrim's worker's compensation carrier. By letter dated January 27, 2020, Sedgwick Claims Management Services, Inc., on behalf of American Zurich Insurance Company (carrier for Pilgrim's), advised Decedent's representative that "[a]fter careful consideration of all available information, it is our opinion that your claim for Workers' Compensation benefits is not compensable." (Record on Appeal at 61). Appellant did not file an action with the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission and did not pursue the matter of entitlement to workers' compensation benefits any further after the denial from Sedgwick.

Respondents filed an Answer on April 7, 2021, wherein they specifically denied that Decedent visited the nursing clinic at any point on the date of her death, that she reported to anyone experiencing chest pains, and that she was instructed by anyone to return to the floor and continuing working, despite such a report. (Record on Appeal at 27-33). On September 17, 2021, Respondents filed a Motion for

the current Personal Representative.

² It is expressly denied that Decedent was ever seen in the nursing clinic on the date in question as there is no record in the required log of her visiting the clinic that day and Respondent Susan Jones, who was the only nurse in the clinic on that date and at or near the alleged time of the visit, has testified that Decedent was not seen on that day. Respondent Mary McBride was not working on that day and had no involvement, whether Decedent visited the clinic or not.

Summary Judgment, asserting, among other issues, that the exclusivity provision of the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-540 (1976, as amended), barred Appellant from suing Respondents because Appellant had not produced any evidence that the death of Decedent by way of heart attack had involved intentional acts on the part of all or any of the Respondents (Record on Appeal at 34-38 and at 39-50). Appellant submitted a Memorandum in Opposition to Motion for Summary Judgment asserting that Decedent's heart attack was not a compensable injury as defined by the Act, and, therefore, would not bar this action by way of the Act's exclusivity provision (Record on Appeal at 51-61), and arguing that Decedent's heart attack was idiopathic in nature and unrelated to her employment (Id.).

The Circuit Court heard the Motion for Summary Judgment on January 31, 2022. (Record on Appeal at 76-110). Counsel for Respondents argued that it was not necessary to go beyond the allegations of the Complaint as the exclusivity provision would bar Appellant's action because Decedent was an employee at the time of the incident, her injury occurred while she was working, and Appellant had not alleged any sort of intentional conduct on the part of Respondents. (Record on Appeal at 76-110). Counsel further asserted that whatever may have occurred at the nursing clinic was irrelevant to the analysis of whether the exclusivity provision applied to Appellant's lawsuit as it was not clear whether or not Decedent's heart attack was a compensable injury. (Record on Appeal at 76-110). Additionally, Respondents argued that McBride and Jones as co-employees were immune to suit under the Act, and that Appellant's tort action should be barred even if Decedent's injury was not

compensable. (*Id.*).

Counsel for Appellant argued that Decedent's heart attack did not arise from her employment, and that it was not accidental but an idiopathic injury and was, therefore, not compensable or barred by the exclusivity provision.³ (*Id.* At 27:12-20, 29:25-31:9). Counsel also asserted that any alleged acts or omissions on the part of the nursing clinic or its staff would be more properly addressed in a civil action, rather than under the Act, because the nursing clinic had its own obligations and identity distinct from the scope of the relationship between Decedent and Pilgrim's as her employer. (*Id.* At 28:2-29:6, 31:9-17). In response, Respondents argued that despite the idiopathic nature of Decedent's heart attack, it could still be a compensable claim if Decedent had overexerted herself in performing her work duties. (*Id.* at 33:2-13). Unfortunately, the record was not further developed on this issue as the proper forum in which to have conducted such an analysis and receive such determination would have been before the Workers' Compensation Commission.

In its Order of April 7, 2022, the Circuit Court denied Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment on all grounds and stated that Decedent's injury did not arise from her employment. (Record on Appeal at 2-8). Respondents timely filed a Motion and Memorandum in Support of Defendants' Motion to Reconsider Denial of Summary Judgment on April 15, 2022. (Record on Appeal at 62-67). Appellant filed a Memorandum in Opposition to the Motion to Reconsider on April 26, 2022.

³ While neither party introduced evidence of the findings of the forensic pathologist who conducted the autopsy or the Sumter County Coroner, the records available reflect that Decedent's

(Record on Appeal at 68-70).

On May 17, 2022, The Circuit Court heard Respondents' Motion to reconsider. (Record on Appeal at 111-126). Respondents argued because Respondents were Decedent's employer and co-employees, and she was working at the time of her heart attack, that it is possible that her injury arose from her employment. (*Id.* at 6:11-19). Respondents also argued that the Workers' Compensation had jurisdiction to determine the question of whether the injury arose in the course and scope of Decedent's employment and such determination had not been made. (*Id.* at 7:9-12).

The Circuit Court entered an Order on July 28, 2022, reversing its prior decision and granting Respondents' summary judgment. (Record on Appeal at 9-14). The Order cited the following grounds for granting summary judgment: The dual capacity doctrine does not provide an exception to the exclusivity provision for injuries allegedly caused by company-employed health care providers; Decedent was at work at the time she suffered her heart attack; Respondents were employer and co-employees of Decedent; and, the question of whether or not Decedent's heart attack was an employment injury was a question for the Workers' Compensation Commission. (*Id.*). The Appellant filed her Notice of Appeal on August 19, 2022. (Record on Appeal at 71).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The question of whether or not the South Carolina Workers' Compensation

death was due to cardiac arrhythmia (onset to death minutes) and cardiomyopathy (onset to death years).

Act provides an exclusive remedy is a jurisdictional question. *See e.g., Nelson v. Yellow Cab Co.*, 349 S.C. 589, 594, 564 S.E.2d 110, 112 (2002). “When the issue on appeal involves jurisdiction, [the Court] can take [its] own view of the preponderance of the evidence.” *Fuller v. Blanchard*, 358 S.C. 536, 542, 595 S.E.2d 831 (Ct. App. 2008).

Though raised by Respondents at the Circuit Court level as a Motion for Summary Judgment, the question presented here is one of jurisdiction, which may be more properly raised and addressed by way of a Motion to Dismiss. “The proper procedure for raising lack of subject matter jurisdiction prior to trial is to file a motion to dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(b)(1), SCRCP, rather than a motion for summary judgment pursuant to Rule 56, SCRCP. *Woodard v. Westvaco Corp.*, 319 S.C. 240, 242, 460 S.E.2d 392, 393 (1995), *overruled on other grounds, Sabb v. S.C. State Univ.*, 350 S.C. 416, 567 S.E.2d 231 (2002). If a party files a Rule 56 motion for summary judgment on the ground of lack of subject matter jurisdiction, the trial court should treat the motion as if it were a Rule 12(b)(1) motion to dismiss. *Edens v. Bellini*, 359 S.C. 433, 439, 597 S.E.2d 863, 866 (Ct. App. 2004).” *Posey v. Proper Mold & Engineering, Inc.*, 661 S.E.2d 395, 399 (Ct. App. 2008)

ARGUMENT

I. The Circuit Court correctly determined that the dual persona doctrine did not apply to the instant case.

South Carolina has adopted the so-called “dual capacity” or “dual persona doctrine.” As Appellant correctly stated, the Supreme Court announced the dual persona doctrine in *Mendenall v. Anderson Hardwood Floors, LLC*, 401 S.C. 558,

738 S.E.2d 251 (2013). In so adopting this doctrine, the Court determined that it is “applicable only where the second set of obligations that forms the basis of the tort suit is entirely independent of the defendant’s obligations as an employer.” *Id.* at 563-64, 738 S.E. 2d at 254.

If the dual person doctrine is to apply, it must be possible to say that the duty arose *solely* from the *nonemployer* persona For only in such case can the second persona be really distinct from the employer persona. In other words, it is not enough . . . that the second persona impose additional duties. They must be totally separate from and unrelated to those of the employment.

Id. at 564, 738 S.E.2d at 254.

However, the facts of *Mendenall* are wholly distinguishable from the instant case. In that case, the Plaintiff was seeking to sue a predecessor in interest for faulty design and construction, failure to warn of a dangerous condition and negligent maintenance. There the Court held that the recognized exceptions to the exclusive remedy “are premised on the notion that the employee is not suing his employer, but rather a separate legal entity that allegedly caused his injury.” *Id.* at 563, 738 S.E.2d 253. Here, the Appellant seeks to sue the employer and two of Decedent’s co-employees who worked in a nursing office provided by the employer because of the inherently dangerous nature of the facility, a chicken processing facility, and the frequent job-related injuries that occurred therein. There was no separation or legally distinguishable line of demarcation between the employer and the nursing office maintained therein.

If, as alleged, the Decedent sought treatment from the nursing office as an employee of Pilgrim’s Pride, by nurses employed by Pilgrim’s Pride for the sole

purpose of providing medical treatment to Pilgrim's Pride employees, the nurse co-employees cannot be held personally liable in tort for alleged negligence. The Circuit Court correctly relied on *Fuller v. Blanchard*, 358 S.C.536, 595 S.E.2d 831 (Ct. App. 2004) in so finding, determining that Decedent was allegedly negligently injured by co-employees conducting the employer's business. Appellant would have this Court embrace the finding in *Fuller* that an independent contractor doctor retained by the employer is not subject to tort immunity. The facts of *Fuller* are clearly distinguishable in that regard, and the Circuit Court fully appreciated and articulated the distinction.

II. The Circuit Court properly reconsidered its prior denial of summary judgment and determined that the matter should be dismissed in accordance with the lack of jurisdiction.

Respondents timely filed their Motion to Reconsider pursuant to Rule 59(e) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. Rule 59(e) allows a court to alter or amend a judgment upon a party's timely motion. Contrary to the implications in Appellant's Initial Brief, a motion to reconsider does not require a party to raise or argue new issues. "A party may wish to file such a motion when she believes the court has misunderstood, failed to full consider, or perhaps failed to rule on an argument or issue, and the party wishes for the court to reconsider or rule on it." *Elam v. S.C. Dep't of Transp.*, 361 S.C. 9, 24, 602 S.E.2d 772, 780 (2004).

III. The Circuit Court correctly determined that the question was one of jurisdiction as to the exclusivity provision of the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Act and concluded that exclusive jurisdiction lay before the Workers' Compensation Commission.

"A claimant may recover workers' compensation benefits if he sustains an

‘injury by accident arising out of and in the course of the employment.’ S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-160 (2006). The general rule is that a heart attack is compensable as a worker's compensation accident if it is induced by unexpected strain or overexertion in the performance of the duties of a claimant's employment or by unusual and extraordinary conditions of employment.” *Jordan v. Kelly Co., Inc.*, 674 S.E.2d 166, 381 S.C. 483 (2009), *citing Hoxit v. Michelin Tire Corp.*, 304 S.C. 461, 464, 405 S.E.2d 407, 409 (1991). In the instant case, the Appellant never sought a determination as to whether or not the Decedent’s heart attack was” induced by unexpected strain or overexertion in the performance” of her duties of employment or by “unusual and extraordinary conditions of employment.” Appellant relies, instead, on the assertion that Decedent was suffering from an idiopathic injury that was unrelated to the workplace at the time of her death. While Respondents don’t disagree that Decedent had underlying health issues that led to her heart attack, the record was not clearly developed by Appellant by exhaustive pursuit of a workers’ compensation claim.

The Circuit Court specifically addressed Appellant’s failure to fully pursue a workers’ compensation claim, finding unpersuasive Appellant’s argument that the Workers’ Compensation Insurer’s denial of the claim by letter was proof that the claim was not covered under the Act. (Order Granting Motion to Reconsider at 4). The Court, instead, determined that the question of Decedent’s heart attack and whether or not it was related to her employment was one first for determination by the Commission. *Boulware v. Mills*, 294 S.C. 24, 362 S.E.2d 184 (Ct. App. 1987); *Fuller v. Blanchard*.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Respondents respectfully request that the Circuit Court's July 28, 2022, Order Granting Respondents' Motion to Reconsider be affirmed.

VERNIS & BOWLING OF SOUTH CAROLINA, LLC